
  

 
Stayton City Council Agenda  Page 1 of 4 
August 20, 2018 

 AGENDA 
STAYTON CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

Monday, August 20, 2018 
Stayton Community Center 

400 W. Virginia Street 
Stayton, Oregon  97383 

 
 
CALL TO ORDER   7:00 PM   Mayor Porter 
 
 
FLAG SALUTE 
 
 
ROLL CALL/STAFF INTRODUCTIONS 
 
 
ANNOUNCEMENTS – PLEASE READ CAREFULLY 
Items not on the agenda but relevant to City business may be discussed at this meeting. Citizens are encouraged to attend all 
meetings of the City Council to insure that they stay informed. Agenda items may be moved forward if a Public Hearing is 
scheduled. 
a. Additions to the agenda 
b. Declaration of Ex Parte Contacts, Conflict of Interest, Bias, etc.  
 
 
PRESENTATIONS/COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC 
Request for Recognition:  If you wish to address the Council, please fill out a green “Request for Recognition” form.  
Forms are on the table at the back of the room. Recommended time for presentation is 10 minutes. Recommended 
time for comments from the public is 3 minutes. 
a. Employee Recognition for Years of Service – Keith Campbell 
 
CONSENT AGENDA 
a. August 6, 2018 City Council Minutes 
b. OLCC New Outlet Liquor License Application – Snow Peak Brewery Public House 
 
 
Purpose of the Consent Agenda: 
In order to make more efficient use of meeting time, resolutions, minutes, bills, and other items which are routine in nature and 
for which no debate is anticipated, shall be placed on the Consent Agenda.  Any item placed on the Consent Agenda may be 
removed at the request of any council member prior to the time a vote is taken.  All remaining items of the Consent Agenda are 
then disposed of in a single motion to adopt the Consent Agenda.  This motion is not debatable.  The Recorder to the Council will 
then poll the council members individually by a roll call vote.  If there are any dissenting votes, each item on the consent Agenda 
is then voted on individually by roll call vote.  Copies of the Council packets include more detailed staff reports, letters, 
resolutions, and other supporting materials.  A citizen wishing to review these materials may do so at Stayton City Hall, 362 N. 
Third Avenue, Stayton, or the Stayton Public Library, 515 N. First Avenue, Stayton. 

The meeting location is accessible to persons with disabilities. A request for an interpreter for the hearing impaired or other 
accommodations for persons with disabilities should be made at least 48 hours prior to the meeting. If you require special 
accommodations contact Deputy City Recorder Alissa Angelo at (503) 769-3425. 



  

 
Stayton City Council Agenda  Page 2 of 4 
August 20, 2018 

PUBLIC HEARING 
Ordinance No. 1024, Amending Land Use Code Regarding Sign Regulations in the Public Zone 
a. Commencement of Public Hearing 
b. Staff Report – Dan Fleishman 
c. Questions from the Council 
d. Proponents’ Testimony 
e. Opponents’ Testimony 
f. Governmental Agencies 
g. General Testimony 
h. Questions from the Public 
i. Questions from the Council 
j. Staff Summary 
k. Close of Hearing 
l. Council Deliberation 
m. Council Decision on Ordinance No. 1024 
 
Annexation Application, E. Virginia Street 
a. Commencement of Public Hearing 
b. Staff Introduction 
c. Applicant Presentation 
d. Staff Report 
e. Questions from the Council 
f. Proponents’ Testimony 
g. Opponents’ Testimony 
h. Governmental Agencies 
i. General Testimony 
j. Questions from the Public 
k. Questions from the Council 
l. Applicant Summary 
m. Staff Summary 
n. Close of Hearing 
o. Council Deliberation 
p. Council Decision on Ordinance No. 1025 
 
UNFINISHED BUSINESS – None  
 
NEW BUSINESS 
Resolution No. 982, Approving Rate Increases for Water, Wastewater, and   Action 
Stormwater Facilities 
a. Staff Report – Andy Parks 
b. Council Deliberation 
c. Council Decision 
 
Neighborhood Improvement Grants        
a. Staff Report – Dan Fleishman 
b. Council Deliberation 
 



  

 
Stayton City Council Agenda  Page 3 of 4 
August 20, 2018 

STAFF/COMMISSION REPORTS 
Finance Department Report – Cindy Chauran & Elizabeth Baldwin  Informational 
a. July 2018 Monthly Finance Department Report 
 
Police Chief’s Report – Chief Rich Sebens      Informational 
a. July 2018 Statistical Report 
 
Public Works Director’s Report – Lance Ludwick     Informational 
a. July 2018 Operating Report 

 
Planning & Development Director’s Report – Dan Fleishman   Informational 
a. July 2018 Activities Report 
 
Library Director’s Report – Janna Moser      Informational 
a. July 2018 Activities 
 
PRESENTATIONS/COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC 
Recommended time for presentations is 10 minutes. 
Recommended time for comments from the public is 3 minutes. 
 
 
BUSINESS FROM THE CITY MANAGER 
 
 
 
 
BUSINESS FROM THE MAYOR 
 
 
 
 
BUSINESS FROM THE COUNCIL 
 
 
 
 
FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS – September 17, 2018 
a. Public Hearing Continued – Comprehensive Plan Map and Zoning Map Amendments 
b. Community Grants 

 
 
 
ADJOURN



Stayton City Council Agenda Page 4 of 4 
August 20, 2018 

CALENDAR OF EVENTS 
AUGUST 2018 

Monday August 20 City Council 7:00 p.m. Community Center (north end) 
Monday August 27 Planning Commission 7:00 p.m. Community Center (north end) 

SEPTEMBER 2018 
Monday September 3 CITY OFFICES CLOSED IN OBSERVANCE OF LABOR DAY HOLIDAY 
Tuesday September 4 City Council Cancelled 
Tuesday September 11 Commissioner’s Breakfast 7:30 a.m. Covered Bridge Café 
Tuesday September 11 Parks & Recreation Board 6:30 p.m. Stayton Public Library 
Monday September 17 City Council 7:00 p.m. Community Center (north end) 

Wednesday September 19 Library Board 6:00 p.m. E.G. Siegmund Meeting Room
Monday September 24 Planning Commission 7:00 p.m. Community Center (north end) 

OCTOBER 2018 
Monday October 1 City Council 7:00 p.m. Community Center (north end) 
Tuesday October 2 Parks & Recreation Board 6:30 p.m. E.G. Siegmund Meeting Room
Tuesday October 9 Commissioner’s Breakfast 7:30 a.m. Covered Bridge Café 
Monday October 15 City Council 7:00 p.m. Community Center (north end) 

Wednesday October 17 Library Board 6:00 p.m. E.G. Siegmund Meeting Room
Monday October 29 Planning Commission 7:00 p.m. Community Center (north end) 

NOVEMBER 2018 
Monday November 5 City Council 7:00 p.m. Community Center (north end) 
Tuesday November 6 Parks & Recreation Board 6:30 p.m. E.G. Siegmund Meeting Room
Monday November 12 CITY OFFICES CLOSED IN OBSERVANCE OF VETERANS DAY HOLIDAY 
Tuesday November 13 Commissioner’s Breakfast 7:30 a.m. Covered Bridge Café 
Monday November 19 City Council 7:00 p.m. Community Center (north end) 

Wednesday November 21 Library Board 6:00 p.m. E.G. Siegmund Meeting Room
Thursday November 22 

CITY OFFICES CLOSED IN OBSERVANCE OF THANKSGIVING HOLIDAY 
Friday November 23 

Monday November 26 Planning Commission 7:00 p.m. Community Center (north end) 
DECEMBER 2018 

Monday December 3 City Council 7:00 p.m. Community Center (north end) 
Tuesday December 4 Parks & Recreation Board 6:30 p.m. E.G. Siegmund Meeting Room
Tuesday December 11 Commissioner’s Breakfast 7:30 a.m. Covered Bridge Café 
Monday December 17 City Council 7:00 p.m. Community Center (north end) 

Wednesday December 19 Library Board 6:00 p.m. E.G. Siegmund Meeting Room
Monday December 24 CITY OFFICES CLOSE AT NOON IN OBSERVANCE OF CHRISTMAS HOLIDAY 
Tuesday December 25 CITY OFFICES CLOSED IN OBSERVANCE OF CHRISTMAS HOLIDAY 



Stayton City Council Meeting Minutes               Page 1 of 3 
August 6, 2018 

City of Stayton 
City Council Meeting Action Minutes 

August 6, 2018 

LOCATION:  STAYTON COMMUNITY CENTER, 400 W. VIRGINIA STREET, STAYTON 

Time Start: 7:00 P.M.     Time End: 7:40 P.M. 

COUNCIL MEETING ATTENDANCE LOG 

COUNCIL STAYTON STAFF 
Mayor Henry Porter Alissa Angelo, Deputy City Recorder 
Councilor Priscilla Glidewell Keith Campbell, City Manager 
Councilor Mark Kronquist Dan Fleishman, Director of Planning & Development 
Councilor Christopher Molin (excused) Lance Ludwick, Public Works Director 
Councilor Brian Quigley Janna Moser, Library Director 
Councilor Joe Usselman Rich Sebens, Chief of Police 

AGENDA ACTIONS 
REGULAR MEETING 
Announcements 
a. Additions to the Agenda
b. Declaration of Ex Parte Contacts, Conflict of Interest,

Bias, etc.

None. 
None. 

Presentations / Comments from the Public 
a. Employee Recognition for Years of Service

b. Steve Poisson

c. Samantha Jones

d. James McGrory

e. Timothy Keaton

f. Tom Peterson

Mr. Campbell recognized five employees for their years of 
service with the City of Stayton: 

• Mike Brash (10 years)
• Officer Dean Butler (10 years)
• Joe Gesek (10 years)
• Jackie Schumacher (10 years)
• Kendall Smith (20 years)

Mr. Poisson, who is Vice President of Revitalize Downtown 
Stayton (RDS), spoke about the recent complaints regarding 
code amendments. He requested any action regarding the 
code amendments be delayed until RDS, the City, and the 
Mainstreet Program can meet. 

Ms. Jones read a letter to the Council regarding smoking in 
the downtown area. 

Mr. McGrory spoke in opposition of the downtown smoking 
ban. 

Mr. Keaton, representing the owners and patrons of 
Rumours, spoke in opposition of the downtown smoking 
ban. 

Mr. Peterson inquired about the construction of the 



 
Stayton City Council Meeting Minutes                        Page 2 of 3 
August 6, 2018 

 
 
 

g. Penny Hall 
 

 
h. Kris Waters 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

i. Bob Johnson 
 

 
j. Bill Agee 

 
k. Mark Waters 

detention pond off of Kindle Way and future maintenance. 
Mr. Ludwick responded.  
 
 Ms. Hall is the Bar Manager for Red Apple, and spoke in 
opposition of the downtown smoking ban.  
 
Ms. Waters is the owner of Cheers on 1st and spoke in 
opposition of the downtown smoking ban. She inquired 
about reasoning behind this rule being put into place. 
Councilors Glidewell and Kronquist stated survey results 
were provided indicating this was an issue downtown. 
Councilor Quigley indicated he was not in support and did 
not vote in support of these code changes.   
 
Mr. Johnson spoke in opposition of the downtown smoking 
ban.  
 
Mr. Agee spoke in opposition of the downtown smoking ban. 
 
Mr. Waters also spoke in opposition of the downtown 
smoking ban. 
 
Councilor Glidewell encouraged getting a group together to 
ensure everyone is included on both sides of the downtown 
smoking issue. Ms. Jones responded to Councilor Glidewell’s 
comments.  

Consent Agenda 
a. July 16, 2018 City Council Minutes 
b. Ordinance No. 1023, Amending Stayton Municipal 

Code 5.5 Relating to Pharmaceutical Drug Disposal 

 
Motion from Councilor Quigley, seconded by Councilor 
Kronquist, to approve the consent agenda as submitted. 
Motion passed 4:0.  

Public Hearing None.  
Unfinished Business 
Request to Reopen Hearing, Land Use File #5-04/18 
a. Staff Report 
b. Council Deliberation 
 
 
 
Housing Study – Follow Up 
a. Staff Report – Dan Fleishman 
b. Council Deliberation 

 
 
Mr. Fleishman reviewed the staff report.  
Motion from Councilor Glidewell, seconded by Councilor 
Kronquist, to reopen the Public Hearing for Land Use File #5-
04/18. Motion passed 4:0.  
 
  
Mr. Fleishman reviewed his staff report.  
The Council directed staff to draft an ordinance for 
establishing a Housing and Neighborhood Vitality 
Commission.  

New Business None.  
Staff / Commission Reports None.  
Presentations / Comments from the Public 
a. Dan Morgan 

 
 

b. Judith Mohney 

  
Mr. Morgan inquired about the subdivision off of Kindle Way 
and fencing of the ditch.  
 
Ms. Mohney commended the Police Department on hosting 



 
Stayton City Council Meeting Minutes                        Page 3 of 3 
August 6, 2018 

 
 
c. Paige Hook 

National Night Out events.  
 
Ms. Hook felt with more civil discourse, the Council would 
see more community involvement.  

Business from the City Manager Chief Sebens spoke about National Night Out on Tuesday, 
August 7th in several City parks beginning at 6:00 p.m.  
 
Mr. Campbell shared information on upcoming meetings 
being hosted by the Army Corp of Engineers regarding the 
Detroit Downstream Passage Project. 

Business from the Mayor None.  
Business from the Council None.  
Future Agenda Items – Monday, August 20, 2018 
a. Public Hearing – Land Use Code Amendments 
b. Public Hearing – Annexation of a Parcel on E. Virginia Street 
c. Shaff Road Water Line 
d. Neighborhood Grants 
 
APPROVED BY THE STAYTON CITY COUNCIL THIS 20TH DAY OF AUGUST 2018, BY A ____ VOTE OF THE STAYTON CITY 
COUNCIL. 
 

Date:    By:   
  Henry A. Porter, Mayor 
 
Date:   Attest:   

 Keith D. Campbell, City Manager 
       
Date:  Transcribed by:        
   Alissa Angelo, Deputy City Recorder 



 
OLCC Application  Page 1 of 2  
August 20, 2018 

 
 

CITY OF STAYTON 
 

M E M O R A N D U M 
 
 
 
TO: Mayor Henry Porter and the Stayton City Council 
 
FROM:  Rich Sebens, Chief of Police 
 
DATE: August 20, 2018 
 
SUBJECT: Liquor License- “New Outlet” Application – Snow Peak 

Brewery Public House 
  
 

ISSUE 
“Snow Peak Brewing Co.” has submitted an application to the City and to OLCC to obtain a 
Brewing-Public House license.  This application is for a “New Outlet” for a “Brewery-Public 
House” Liquor License.  Mr. Matthew Spenner and Ms. Crystal Spenner are the applicants for 
the LLC of Snow Peak Brewery Co. which will be located at 280 E. Water St. in Stayton. The 
license application is to brew and sell on-sight.  There are four other owners of the business. 
They are as follows: Mr. Douglas Naugle, Ms. Carissa Naugle, Mr. Christopher Klein, and Ms. 
Brittany Klein. 
 
 
NEW BUSINESS NAME: Snow Peak Brewing  LLC. 
    280 East Water St. 
    Stayton, Oregon   97383 
    B:  503-302-4815 
     
PRIMARY OWNER(s):   Matthew & Crystal Spenner 
    20685 Ferry Rd. SE 
    Stayton, OR 97383 
 
         
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
It is the recommendation of the Stayton Police Department to forward this application to the 
Oregon Liquor Control Commission (OLCC) with a recommendation for approval. 
 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
The location is zoned for this type of business which is a “commercial mixed use” zone.  The 
business will comply with the zoning requirements, prior to this it was a part of the Santiam 
Water Control District building.  
 



 
OLCC Application  Page 2 of 2  
August 20, 2018 

 
 
FACTS AND FINDINGS 
We have conducted a background investigation of the business and applicant.  We have found 
nothing out of the ordinary. 
 
Based on the application and background investigation, I find no legal authority to 
recommend denial of this application. 
 
MOTION(S) 
No Motions are needed as this is a consent agenda item. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT:  N/A 
 
 
 



 
 

 
 

CITY OF STAYTON 
 

M E M O R A N D U M 
 
 
 

 TO: Mayor Henry Porter and the Stayton City Council 

 FROM: Dan Fleishman, Director of Planning and Development 

 DATE: August 20, 2018 

 SUBJECT: Ordinance 1024 Amending Land Use Code regarding Sign 
Regulations in the Public Zone 

  
 
ISSUE 

The issue before the City Council is a public hearing on a legislative amendment to the Land Use 
and Development Code that would allow more flexibility in the placement of temporary signs in 
the Public Zone.  Following the public hearing, the Council will be requested to consider 
Ordinance 1024 to amend the Code.  

BACKGROUND INFORMATION 

At their April meeting, the Planning Commission had a discussion with a representative from 
the Methodist Church on Fern Ridge Rd regarding sign regulations.  The Church requested that 
the Commission consider an amendment to the Code that would allow temporary or portable 
signs to be placed within the public right of way.  The width of the Fern Ridge Rd right of way 
means that signs are not visible when placed on private property.  The Planning Commission 
reviewed a possible amendment at their May meeting and scheduled a hearing for the July 
meeting. 

PROPOSED AMENDMENT 

The amendment proposed by the Planning Commission would allow a temporary sign in the 
Public/Semi-Public zone to be located within the public right of way if the street right of way is 
wider than 60 feet, and there is a landscape strip between the curb and sidewalk that exceeds 
five feet in width. 

RECOMMENDATION 

The Planning Commission has recommended adoption of the amendments.  Staff recommends 
adoption of Ordinance 1024 as presented.   

OPTIONS AND MOTIONS 

The City Council is presented with the following options. 



 
 

1. Approve the first consideration of Ordinance 1024 

Move to approve Ordinance No 1024 as presented. 

The City Recorder shall call the roll and the names of each Councilor present and their vote shall be recorded 
in the meeting minutes. If the vote is unanimous, Ordinance No. 1024 is enacted and will be presented to the 
Mayor for his approval. 

If the vote is not unanimous, Ordinance No. 1024 will be brought before the Council for a second 
consideration at the September 17, 2018 meeting.  

2. Approve the Ordinance with modifications  

Move to approve Ordinance No. 1024with the following changes … and direct staff to 
incorporate these changes into the Ordinance before the Ordinance is presented to the City 
Council for a second consideration. 

The City Recorder shall call the roll and the names of each Councilor present and their vote shall be recorded 
in the meeting minutes. If the first consideration is approved, Ordinance No. 1024 will be brought before the 
Council for a second consideration at its September 17, 2018 meeting.  

3. Retain the Code unchanged 

No motion is necessary.  

 





 

Ordinance No. 1024 Temporary Signs in the Public Zone Page 1 of 2 

ORDINANCE NO. 1024 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING STAYTON MUNICIPAL CODE TITLE 17, 
REGARDING TEMPORARY SIGNS IN THE PUBLIC/SEMI-PUBLIC ZONE 

 
WHEREAS, Oregon Revised Statutes, Chapter 197 requires municipalities to adopt and implement a 
comprehensive land use planning program in accordance with statewide planning goals established by 
the Legislature and the Oregon Land Conservation and Development Commission; 

WHEREAS, the City of Stayton has adopted Title 17 of the Stayton Municipal Code (SMC) as the 
Land Use and Development Code; 

WHEREAS, SMC Title 17, Chapter 16 of the Land Use and Development Code, Section 17.20.140.9-
B.A.3 prohibits from being located in a street right of way; 

WHEREAS, occasionally within the city the street rights of way are wide enough that a temporary sign 
outside of the right of way is not visible; 

WHEREAS, notice of the proposed amendment was sent to the Department of Land Conservation and 
Development more than 35 days in advance of the Planning Commission’s public hearing; 

WHEREAS, the Stayton Planning Commission has initiated the process for amending the Land Use 
and Development Code, in accordance with Section 17.12.175.3, and following a public hearing has 
recommended that the Stayton City Council enact the recommended amendments; and 

WHEREAS, the Stayton City Council, following a public hearing, notice of which was published in, 
does find that the amendments proposed by the Planning Commission are appropriate and are 
consistent with the Comprehensive Plan. 

NOW, THEREFORE, the City of Stayton ordains: 

Section 1.  Temporary Sign Regulations Amended.  Section 17.20.140.9-B.a. is hereby amended as 
follows: 

a. Temporary Signs.  No more than two temporary signs per business shall be permitted at any 
one time.  Temporary signs shall conform to the following: 

1) A temporary sign shall not exceed 16 square feet in area. 

2) The placement of temporary signs shall be limited to a period not exceeding 90 days 
within any calendar year.  This restriction applies to the display of all temporary signs 
throughout a calendar year and not to each individual sign.  

3) AExcept in a Public/Semi-Public Zone, a temporary sign shall not be located within the 
public right-of-way or violate vision clearance provisions.  In a Public/Semi-Public 
Zone, a temporary sign may be located in the public right of way, when the right of way 
exceeds 60 feet in width and there is a landscape strip between curb and sidewalk that 
exceeds five feet in width.  A temporary sign in the public right of way shall be placed a 
minimum of three feet behind the curb and shall be placed a minimum of 50 feet from a 
driveway or street intersection. 

4) A newly opened business may have a temporary sign for up to 180 days while waiting 
for a permanent sign to be manufactured and installed. 

Section 2.  Effective Date.  This Ordinance shall not become effective until the 30th day after adoption 
by the Stayton City Council and execution by the Mayor, or a representative of the Mayor.  In the 



 

Ordinance No. 1024 Temporary Signs in the Public Zone Page 2 of 2 

event of a timely appeal to LUBA, this Ordinance shall not become effective until the LUBA appeal is 
finally resolved, including any appeals from the decision of LUBA. 

Section 3.  A copy of this Ordinance shall be furnished to the State of Oregon, Department of Land 
Conservation and Development forthwith. 

ADOPTED BY THE STAYTON CITY COUNCIL this 20th day of August, 2018.  

CITY OF STAYTON 

Signed: ____________, 2018 BY: _______________________________ 
 Henry A. Porter, Mayor 

Signed: ____________, 2018 ATTEST: _______________________________ 
 Keith D. Campbell, 
 City Administrator 

 



 

 
 

CITY OF STAYTON 
 

M E M O R A N D U M 
 
 
 

 TO: Mayor Henry Porter and the Stayton City Council 

 FROM: Dan Fleishman, Director of Planning and Development 

 DATE: August 20, 2018 

 SUBJECT: Annexation Application, E Virginia St 

 120 DAYS ENDS:  October 27, 2018 
  
 
ISSUE 

The issue before the City Council is a public hearing on an application for the annexation of 
approximately 0.25 acres of land on E Virginia Ave and to assign Medium Density Residential 
zoning to newly annexed territory.  Following the public hearing, the Council will be requested 
to consider Ordinance 1025 that will annex the property and amend the Official Zoning Map. 

BACKGROUND INFORMATION 

The territory proposed for annexation is a portion of 1.1 acre parcel of land.  Most of the parcel 
is in the City Limits, but a portion of the property has not been annexed.  The applicant 
proposed annexation of this portion of the property.  The parcel includes the unconstructed 
portion of E Virginia St.  The applicant proposed to complete E Virginia St and divide the parcel 
into four lots.  A March, 2014 aerial photo of the property is below: 

 



 

ANALYSIS 

This report presents the Planning Staff’s summary and analysis concerning this application.  It 
was developed after seeking input from other City departments and agencies.  As is routine for 
all applications that appear before the Planning Commission, notice of the application was sent 
to the City of Stayton Public Works, Stayton Cooperative Telephone Company, Pacific Power, 
NW Natural Gas, Stayton Fire District, Marion County Public Works, Marion County Planning 
Division, Santiam Water Control District and the North Santiam School District.  No comments 
were received or concerns raised by these agencies regarding the annexation. 

Attached is an application for annexation from Coe Construction.  The application was 
accompanied by a concurrent application to subdivide the property.  Only the application for 
annexation is before the City Council.  The application for preliminary plan approval of the 
subdivision was approved by the Planning Commission, with conditions, contingent upon the 
successful completion of the annexation process. 

The application consists of the application form and the applicant’s narrative.  It should be 
noted that the applicant’s narrative addresses both the application for annexation and the 
subdivision application.  Also attached is the Planning Commission’s order, containing its 
recommendation on the application for annexation and its approval of the subdivision. 

Also included in the packet is correspondence and some photos received from a neighboring 
property owner.  The Planning Commission received a number of emails regarding the 
applications.  The issues addressed in the emails were relative to the subdivision proposal, not 
the annexation.  A summary of the comments is included in the Planning Commission’s order. 

The City Council must reach two independent decisions: 

 Does the application meet the criteria for approval for annexation 

 If so, which zone to apply to the property 

Information to assist the Council reach each of these decisions is discussed separately below. 

Annexation Criteria 

Section 17.12.210 of the Land Use and Development Code contains six criteria for approval of 
applications for annexation.  The sixth criterion applies only to contract annexations and is not 
applicable to this application.  The other five criteria are: 

a. Need exists in the community for the land proposed to be annexed. 

b. The site is or is capable of being serviced by adequate City public services including such 
services as may be provided subject to the terms of a contract annexation agreement 
between the applicant and the City. 

c. The proposed annexation is property contiguous to existing City jurisdictional limits. 

d. The proposed annexation is compatible with the character of the surrounding area and 
complies with the urban growth program and policies of the City of Stayton. 

e. The annexation request complies or can be made to comply with all applicable 
provisions of state and local law. 



 

Criteria b, c, and e are fairly objective and leave little for interpretation.  In this case, sewer and 
water facilities are available to the property.  The area to be annexed is an island of unannexed 
land completely surrounded by the City Limits and provisions of the state law – process and 
consent of landowners – have been or will be followed. 

This leaves the other two criteria for more careful scrutiny and analysis.  The “need” for any 
annexation may always be debated.  The draft ordinance that staff has provided to the Council 
reflects the following analysis and Staff’s recommended conclusions. 

The 2013 Stayton Comprehensive Plan update included a Buildable Lands Inventory (BLI).  The 
2013 BLI provides the following information on projected growth and the need for additional 
land in the community.  At that time, there were 114 lots comprising 106 acres of vacant land 
inside the City limits in the Low, Medium, and High Density Residential Zones.  The projected 
population for the City in 2030 (at a growth rate of 1.7%) was 11,359 people, requiring an 
additional 1,281 dwellings.  To meet that need, the Comprehensive Plan indicates an additional 
320 acres of residential land will need to be annexed into the City.   Since the time that analysis 
was conducted, the City has annexed 40 acres of residential land. 

There are currently 91 vacant lots totaling 100 acres within the City limits that are residentially 
zoned. 

Only two subdivisions have been platted in the past 5 years.  Four subdivisions have been 
platted in the past 10 years.  The total number of lots in each and the current status is shown in 
the table below. 

Recent Subdivisions in Stayton 

Subdivision Name Year Platted No of Lots  Existing Homes Vacant Lots 

Roth Estates 2009 12 12 0 
Phillips Estates, Phase 1 2009 20 16 4 
Phillips Estates, Phase 2 2014 26 5 21 
Wildlife Meadows 2017 44 35 11 

In addition, there is a possible third phase of the Phillips Estates subdivision, accounting for a 
potential of 10 lots, and the Lambert Place subdivision with 51 lots that have received 
preliminary plan approval from the Planning Commission but not yet been platted with Marion 
County. 

Though there are 91 parcels totaling 100 acres in the City and residentially zoned, there are 
only 57 parcels totaling 58 acres of vacant property within the City limits that are residentially 
zoned and reasonably available for development.  Lack of utility availability, ownership by a 
governmental entity, wetlands and floodplain issues constrain the ability of the remaining land 
to be available for development.  In addition the City will not issue permits for the 25 cacant 
lots in the Phillips Estate subdivision until the developer addresses the ongoing stormwater 
issues.  Within the LD zone there are 42 lots reasonably available for development.  In the MD 
zone there are 14 vacant lots.  There is only one vacant lot in the High Density Residential Zone.  
With 4 acres, it has the potential capacity for 50 to 60 dwelling units. 

The City’s growth rate from 2000 and 2017 has been at an average annual rate of about 1%, 
with a population change of 954 people.  The Marion County Coordinated Growth projection 
for 2030 is 11,360, reflecting a 1.6% average annual growth rate for the next twenty years.  At a 



 

1.6% growth rate from the most recent certified population estimate of the City, there would 
be the need for 541 new dwellings units over the next 10 years.  At an average of 5 units per 
acre for single family development, there would be the need for all of the existing vacant land 
in the City and 65 acres of land beyond the vacant land considered reasonably available for 
development to accommodate this number of homes. 

The second criterion subject to analysis is that the proposed annexation is compatible with the 
character of the surrounding area and complies with the urban growth program and policies of 
the City.  The property is surrounded by a mix of single family lots and a multifamily 
development.  The portion of the property currently in the City Limits is zoned Medium Density 
Residential, as are nine houselots to the south and west of the subject property.  These MD lots 
range in size from 7,300 square feet to 16,000 square feet.  To the east of the subject property 
are single family lots, zoned Low Density Residential and ranging in size from 9,579 square feet 
to 14,193 square feet.  The proposal is to annex the portion of the property not within the City 
Limits for a proposed subdivision with lots ranging in size from 7,047 to 9,116 square feet in 
area.  The MD zoning allows duplexes on each lot, which the applicant intends to build. 

Finally, the City Council must find that the proposal complies with the urban growth program 
and policies of the City of Stayton.  The extent that it exists, the urban growth program is 
contained in Chapter 8 of the Comprehensive Plan and in the City’s adopted Master Plans.  
Comprehensive Plan Chapter 8 contains the justification for the City’s Urban Growth Boundary 
and the policies for coordination of growth within the UGB but outside of the city limits.  The 
City’s policies for the development of land in the UGB are really contained in the master plans.  
The territory to be annexed is the last remaining island of unannexed land surrounded by the 
City.  The portion of the property within the City has been within the City since the City was 
incorporated. 

Zone Map Amendment Criteria 

Section 17.12.180.6 of the Land Use and Development Code contains six criteria for approval of 
applications for zone map amendments.  Section 17.12.210 .5, from the annexation procedures 
section, indicates that “All lands that are annexed to the City shall be zoned in accordance with 
the designation of the property in the Comprehensive Plan.  The specific zone assigned to the 
land being annexed shall be determined by the City Council in accordance with the proposed 
uses of the land and the needs identified by the buildable lands analysis in the Comprehensive 
Plan.” 

The property is designated Residential by the Comprehensive Plan Map.  Chapter 17.16 of the 
Land Use and Development Code establishes three possible zoning classifications for residential 
zones:   

 LOW DENSITY RESIDENTIAL (LD).  To provide for single family dwelling units and their 
accessory uses and, with conditional use approval, other uses compatible with single 
family dwelling units. Density shall not exceed 6 units per acre.  The minimum lot size in 
the LD zone is 8,000 square feet with an 80-foot lot width requirement. 

 MEDIUM DENSITY RESIDENTIAL (MD). To provide for single family, duplex, triplex, and 
mobile home parks, and other compatible uses with conditional approval.  Density of 



 

development shall not exceed 12 dwelling units per acre.  The minimum lot size in the MD 
zone is 7,000 square feet with a 70-foot lot width requirement. 

 HIGH DENSITY RESIDENTIAL (HD). To provide for multifamily residential units, other 
compatible living units, their accessory structures and, with conditional use approval, 
other compatible uses.  The minimum density shall be 13 units per acre. There shall be no 
upper limit to the maximum allowable dwelling density.  The minimum lot size in the HD 
zone is 6,000 square feet with a 60-foot lot width requirement. 

The task before the City Council is to determine which of the three zones is most appropriate 
considering the goals and policies of the Comprehensive Plan.  The applicant has requested the 
City apply Medium Density Residential zoning to the property and has submitted a concurrent 
application for subdivision approval, which has been approved by the Planning Commission 
contingent upon successful completion of the annexation process.  The Planning Commission, 
following its analysis has recommended Medium Density Residential zoning.   

The Comprehensive Plan notes the need for the City’s Comprehensive Plan to be coordinated 
with the Marion County Comprehensive Plan and that the urban growth framework in the 
County Plan calls for an overall density guideline of between 5 and 6 units per acre of land 
zoned for residential use.  Table 3.8 of the Comprehensive Plan notes that overall, the City had 
only 3.1 dwelling units per acre of land zoned residential, ranging from as high as 11.4 units per 
acre for land zoned HD, to 4.6 units per acre in the MD zone to as low as 2.2 units per acre in 
the LD zone.  It should be noted that this includes vacant parcels and parcels with potential for 
redevelopment and is a density calculation based on the gross acreage of land zone residential, 
including streets. 

Policy LU-1 of the Comprehensive Plan is to adopt a zoning map consistent with the 
Comprehensive Plan Map.  This policy has two implementation actions, one of which is that 
zoning district boundaries shall follow property lines and rights of way centerlines as much as 
practicable.  In this case where a majority of the property is in the City Limits and zoned MD, it 
makes sense, and is consistent with the Comprehensive Plan, that the remainder of the 
property be zoned MD. 

RECOMMENDATION 

The Planning Commission has recommended approval of the application for annexation and 
that the City Council assign Medium Density Residential Zoning, as indicated in the attached 
order. 

The staff also recommends approval as reflected in the draft ordinance that is included in the 
packet. 

There may be testimony at the public hearing that requires the findings in the draft ordinance 
be modified to reflect that testimony. 

OPTIONS AND MOTIONS 

The City Council is presented with the following options. 



 

1. Approve the application and the first consideration of Ordinance 1025 

Move to approve the application of Coe Construction, LLC (Land Use File #13-06/18) for 
annexation and assign Medium Density Residential Zoning to the property by enacting 
Ordinance No 1025 as presented. 

The City Recorder shall call the roll and the names of each Councilor present and their vote 
shall be recorded in the meeting minutes.  If the vote is unanimous, Ordinance No. 1025 is 
enacted and will be presented to the Mayor for his approval. 

If the vote is not unanimous, Ordinance No. 1025 will be brought before the Council for a 
second consideration at the September 17, 2018 meeting. 

2. Approve the application and the Ordinance with modifications  

Move to approve the application of Coe Construction, LLC (Land Use File #13-06/18) for 
annexation and assign Medium Density Residential Zoning to the property by enacting 
Ordinance No 1025 with the following changes … and direct staff to incorporate these 
changes into the Ordinance before the Ordinance is presented to the City Council for a 
second consideration. 

The City Recorder shall call the roll and the names of each Councilor present and their vote 
shall be recorded in the meeting minutes.  If the first consideration is approved, Ordinance 
No. 1025 will be brought before the Council for a second consideration at its September 17, 
2018 meeting. 

3. Deny the application 

Move to deny the application of Coe Construction, LLC (Land Use File #13-06/18) for 
annexation and direct staff to prepare a draft Order of Denial for consideration by the City 
Council. 

4. Continue the hearing until September 17, 2018. 

I move the City Council continue the public hearing on the application of Coe Construction 
for annexation, LLC (Land Use File #13-06/18) until September 17, 2018.  

5. Close the hearing but keep the record open for submission of written testimony. 

I move the City Council close the hearing on the application of Coe Construction, LLC for 
annexation (Land Use File #13-06/18) but maintain the record open to submissions by the 
applicant until September 4, allowing 7 days for review and rebuttal and then an additional 
7 days for the applicant to reply, with final closure of the record on September 18, 2018.  

6. Close the hearing and record, and continue the deliberation to the next meeting. 

I move the City Council continue the deliberation on the applications for annexation and 
preliminary subdivision approval of Coe Construction, LLC (Land Use File #13-06/18) until 
September 17, 2018. 

 





 













































 

 

Ordinance No. 1025 (Land Use File #13-06/18) Page 1 of 2 
Annexation & Zoning Map Amendment – E Virginia St 

ORDINANCE NO. 1025 
 

AN ORDINANCE ANNEXING INTO THE CITY OF STAYTON CERTAIN REAL PROPERTY 
LOCATED ON E VIRGINIA ST; AND AMENDING THE CITY OF STAYTON ZONING MAP FROM 
MARION COUNTY URBAN TRANSITIONAL (UT) TO CITY OF STAYTON MEDIUM DENSITY 
RESIDENTIAL (MD). 

 WHEREAS, Coe Construction, LLC has initiated annexation of that certain real property located 
in the southwest quarter of Section 11, Township 9 South, Range 1 West, Willamette Meridian, Marion 
County, Oregon, more particularly described in Exhibit A attached hereto and incorporated herein, and 
further illustrated on a map shown in Exhibit B attached hereto and incorporated herein; 

WHEREAS, Coe Construction, LLC, representing a majority of the property owners of the 
property, has consented to the annexation of the property;   

 WHEREAS, on June 1, 2018, pursuant to ORS 222.125 and Stayton Municipal Code (SMC) 
Section 17.12.210, Coe Construction, LLC, filed with the City of Stayton, Oregon, an annexation 
application and a request to assign Medium Density Residential Zoning to the annexed territory; 

 WHEREAS, the territory to be annexed is a portion of the property owned by Coe Construction, 
LLC and a majority of the property has been within the City Limits since the original formation of the 
City of Stayton; 

WHEREAS, the applicant’s proposal is to annex the property with the intent of constructing a 
residential subdivision on the property; 

 WHEREAS, a public hearing was held on the application before the Stayton Planning 
Commission on July 30, 2018; 

 WHEREAS, the territory to be annexed is an island of unannexed land completely surrounded by 
the City Limits; 

 WHEREAS, the portion of the property in the City Limits is zoned Medium Density Residential; 

 WHEREAS, territory to be annexed is currently zoned Urban Transition (UT-20), and the 
applicant has requested that the territory to be annexed be zoned Medium Density (MD) Residential in 
accordance with the Stayton Comprehensive Plan Map; 

WHEREAS, the City of Stayton City Council held a public hearing as required by law on August 
20, 2018;  

WHEREAS, the City of Stayton City Council makes findings of fact regarding the application as 
contained in Exhibit C attached hereto and incorporated herein;  

WHEREAS, the City of Stayton City Council concludes, based on the findings of fact contained in 
Exhibit C that the application meets the criteria for approval in SMC 17.12.210.5; 

NOW THEREFORE, the City of Stayton ordains: 

Section 1.  Pursuant to ORS 222.125, the Stayton City Council hereby proclaims the annexation to the 
City of Stayton, Oregon, of territory in the southwest quarter of Section 11, Township 9 South, Range 1 
West, Willamette Meridian, Marion County, Oregon, the legal description of which is described in 
Exhibit A, which is attached hereto and by reference incorporated herein. 

Section 2.  Pursuant to ORS 222.005 the Stayton City Recorder shall provide by certified mail to all 
public utilities, telecommunication facilities, and franchise holders operating within the City a written 
notice of each site address to be annexed as recorded on the Marion County assessment and tax roles, a 



 

 

Ordinance No. 1025 (Land Use File #13-06/18) Page 2 of 2 
Annexation & Zoning Map Amendment – E Virginia St 

legal description and map of the proposed boundary change, and a copy of this ordinance.  This notice 
shall be mailed within (10) ten working days of the passage of this Ordinance. 

Section 3.  Pursuant to ORS 222.010 the Stayton City Recorder shall, within ten (10) days of the passage 
of this Ordinance, send to the Marion County Clerk and Marion County Assessor a report of the 
annexation including a detailed legal description of the new boundaries established by the City. 

Section 4.  Pursuant to ORS 308.225(2) the Stayton City Recorder shall provide to the Oregon 
Department of Revenue a copy of this Ordinance, containing the legal description and map of the territory 
being annexed. 

Section 5.  Pursuant to ORS 222.177 the Stayton City Recorder shall provide to the Oregon Secretary of 
State a copy of this Ordinance, containing the legal description and map of the territory being annexed, 
and a copy of documents indicating consent of the property owner. 

Section 6.  The Stayton Official Zoning Map is hereby amended to include the annexed territory as 
Medium Density Residential. 

Section 7.  Upon adoption by the Stayton City Council and the Mayor’s signing, this Ordinance shall 
become effective 30 days after the date of signing. 
 
 
ADOPTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL this 20th day of August, 2018. 
 
 

 CITY OF STAYTON 

 

Signed: ____________, 2018 BY: _______________________________ 
 Henry A Porter, Mayor 

 

Signed: ____________, 2018 ATTEST: _______________________________ 
 Keith D. Campbell, City Administrator 
 
 
  



 

 

Ordinance No. 1025 (Land Use File #13-06/18) Page 1 of 1 
Exhibit A 

EXHIBIT A, Annexation Area 
 
A tract of land located in the Southwest One-Quarter of Section 11, Township 9 South, Range 1 West, 
Willamette Meridian, Marion County, Oregon, being more particularly described as follows: 

Beginning at the northwest corner of Lot 44 in the plat of “Pioneer Meadows – Phase II” filed in Book 41 
of plats at Page 40, records of Marion County, Oregon, said northwest corner being on a westerly line of 
said plat; thence South 01º46’19” West along said westerly line of said plat and also along the city limits 
line for the City of Stayton a distance of 226.24 feet to a point on the south right-of-way line of East 
Virginia Street, said point also being on a northerly line of said plat; thence North 88º13’00” West along 
said northerly line of said plat and also along the city limits line for the City of Stayton a distance of 49.93 
feet to the west line of said Section 11; thence leaving said northerly line of said plat North 01º36’44” 
East along said west line of said Section 11 and also along the city limits line for the City of Stayton a 
distance of 226.00 feet to the southwest corner of that certain tract of land conveyed to Douglas J. Mack 
filed in Reel 1696 of Deeds at Page 567, records of Marion County, Oregon; thence leaving said west line 
of said Section 11 South 88º29’32” East along the south line of said Mack tract and also along the city 
limits line for the City of Stayton a distance of 50.56 feet to the Point of Beginning. 

The above described tract of land contains 11,361 square feet, more or less.  



 

 

Ordinance No. 1025 (Land Use File #13-06/18) Page 1 of 1 
Exhibit B, Map of Annexation Area 

 



 

 

Ordinance No. 1025  (Land Use File #13-06/18) Page 1 of 5 
Exhibit C, Findings of Fact 

EXHIBIT C, CITY COUNCIL FINDINGS OF FACT 

LAND USE FILE #13-06/18 

A. EXISTING CONDITIONS 

1. The owner of the property and the applicant is Coe Construction Co. 

2. The parcel can be described as: Township 9, Range 1 West of the Willamette Meridian, Section 
10DA, Tax Lot 3100. 

3. The property is currently partially in the City Limits and zoned Medium Density Residential (MD) 
and partially outside of the City Limits and zoned Marion County Urban Transition (UT-20).  

4. The property is located on E Virginia St where a section of the street has not been dedicated.  The 
entire property is approximately 1.1 acres in area with approximately 214 feet of lot width 
between the two sections of E Virginia St and approximately 227 feet of depth. 

5. The property to the east is zoned Low Density Residential (LD), was annexed in 1994, and is 
developed with a single family dwelling.  The properties to the north, are zoned LD and High 
Density Residential and is a vacant lot and a lot developed with a multi-family complex. The 
property to the west is zoned MD, was part of the original Charter for the Town of Stayton, and is 
developed as a single family home.  The properties to the south are zoned MD, were part of the 
original Charter for the Town of Stayton, and are developed with single family dwellings.  
Neighboring single family residential properties range in size from 7,300 square feet to 14,300 
square feet in area. 

6. The property is currently vacant. 

B. PROPOSAL 

The proposal is to annex 11,361 square feet of land into the City.  The applicant has proposed that 
Medium Density Residential zoning be applied at the time of annexation.  The applicant also proposes to 
subdivide the property into four lots and complete the construction of E Virginia St on the southern 
portion of the parcel.  The preliminary plan for subdivision was approved by the Stayton Planning 
Commission, contingent upon final completion of the annexation process. 

C. AGENCY COMMENTS 

The following agencies were notified of the proposal: City of Stayton Public Works, Stayton Cooperative 
Telephone Company, Pacific Power, NW Natural Gas, Stayton Fire District, Marion County Public 
Works, Marion County Planning Division, Santiam Water Control District and the North Santiam School 
District. 

D. PUBLIC COMMENTS 

The Planning Department notified all owners of property within 300 feet of the subject property.  A letter 
and six printed emails were submitted prior to the Planning Commission’s public hearing.  All of these 
emails and letters were on the subject of saving a tree that is partially on others’ property and partly on the 
subject property and will be in the dedicated right of way for E Virginia St.  These comments are 
addressed in the findings below. 

At the Planning Commission’s public hearing there was testimony from seven individuals.  This 
testimony was offered in opposition to the application.  Concern was expressed by those testifying 
regarding the impacts of continuing E Virginia St and speed once it is a through street, about the condition 
of E Virginia St between N Fourth Ave and N Ninth Ave to handle additional traffic, about the oak tree to 



 

 

Ordinance No. 1025  (Land Use File #13-06/18) Page 2 of 5 
Exhibit C, Findings of Fact 

be saved, and impact of duplexes on the neighborhood of single family dwellings.  This testimony is 
addressed in the findings below. 

E. ANALYSIS 

The amendment of the Official Zoning Map must meet the criteria contained within SMC Title 17, 
Section 17.12.180.6.  Annexation applications are required to satisfy approval criteria contained within 
Stayton Municipal Code (SMC) Title 17, Section 17.12.210.4. 

F. REVIEW CRITERIA 

Pursuant to SMC 17.12.180.6 the following criteria for approval of a zone map amendment must be 
demonstrated as being satisfied by the application: 

1) The proposed zone is consistent with the Comprehensive Plan map designation for the subject 
property unless a Comprehensive Plan Map amendment has also been applied for and is 
otherwise compatible with applicable provisions of the Comprehensive Plan. 

Finding: The Comprehensive Plan map designates the property as Residential.  The requested zoning 
designation is Medium Density Residential.  Policy LU-1 states it is the policy of the City to adopt a 
zoning map consistent with the Comprehensive Plan map and one of the actions under this policy is 
that zoning district boundaries shall follow property lines and rights of way centerlines as much as 
practicable.  Whereas the portion of the property currently in the City is zoned MD, the proposal to 
zone the newly annexed territory MD would comply with this action step and policy. 

2) Existing or anticipated services (water, sanitary sewers, storm sewers, schools, police and fire 
protection) can accommodate potential development in the subject area without adverse impact on 
the affected service area.  

Finding: There is a 20-inch water main in E Virginia St.  There is a 10-inch sewer main in E Virginia 
and N Tenth Ave with sewer manhole in N Tenth Ave.  There is a 15-inch stormwater main on the 
subject property.  The North Santiam School District, Stayton Police Department, and Stayton Fire 
District were notified of the application and did not express any concerns with impacts of the 
proposed zoning application or potential development on their abilities to provide services. 

3) Existing or anticipated transportation facilities are adequate for uses permitted under the 
proposed zone designation and the proposed amendment is in conformance with the Oregon 
Transportation Planning Rule (OAR 660-012-0060).  

Finding: The adopted Transportation System Plan includes growth projections for the entire urban 
growth area, used in determining the transportation improvements necessary as the City grows, 
dividing the urban growth area into a number of “traffic analysis zones.” The TAZ that is bounded by 
E Santiam St, N 15th Ave, E Burnett includes the subject property.  Figure 6-2 of the TSP shows that 
the TSP was based on an assumption that this TAZ would see an increase of less than 50 housing units 
between the year 2000 and 2025.  Figure 1-2 of the TSP, the Future Street Plan, shows the missing 
section of E Virginia Street as future neighborhood collector or local street.  The Stayton 
Transportation System Plan anticipated the development of this parcel as residential with the density 
of development in the range of what is proposed, anticipated the completion of E Virginia St, and 
existing or anticipated transportation facilities will be adequate for the uses permitted under the 
proposed zone designation.  Approval of this application will not significantly affect a transportation 
facility and therefore complies with the Transportation Planning Rule. 

4) The purpose of the proposed zoning district satisfies the goals and policies of the Comprehensive 
Plan.  



 

 

Ordinance No. 1025  (Land Use File #13-06/18) Page 3 of 5 
Exhibit C, Findings of Fact 

Finding: Policy HO-1 calls for the City to encourage development of housing that meets the needs of 
all income groups of existing and future residents.  The action to implement this policy is to assure 
that an adequate supply of land in all residential zones is available for development within the City.  
Staff reports that there are currently 42 vacant lots reasonably available for development within the 
LD zone, of which nine are large enough to be further divided and that there are 14 vacant lots in the 
MD zone, of which five are large enough to be further divided, including the subject property.  
Further, the Comprehensive Plan notes that the established residential density guideline for Stayton is 
between 5 and 6 housing units per gross acre of residentially zoned land.  During the period between 
2000 and the drafting of the Comprehensive Plan the subdivisions recorded were at a density of only 
2.8 units per acre.  Since the time of drafting the comprehensive plan only two additional subdivisions 
have been platted, with a combined density of 3.5 units per acre.  The proposed subdivision, if 
duplexes are built on each lot, would have a density of 7.3 units per acre. Assigning MD zoning would 
assist the City meet its density goal. 

Policy LU-1 states it is the policy of the City to adopt a zoning map consistent with the 
Comprehensive Plan map and one of the actions under this policy is that zoning district boundaries 
shall follow property lines and rights of way centerlines as much as practicable.  Whereas the portion 
of the property currently in the City is zoned MD, the proposal to zone the newly annexed territory 
MD would comply with this action step and policy.  

5) Balance is maintained in the supply of vacant land in the zones affected by the zone change to 
meet the demand for projected development in the Comprehensive Plan.  Vacant land in the 
proposed zone is not adequate in size, configuration or other characteristics to support the 
proposed use or development.  A Zone Map Amendment shall not eliminate all available vacant 
land from any zoning designation. 

Finding:  The Comprehensive Plan projects that 70% of the new housing units will be single-family 
detached, 15% of the new housing units will be single-family attached or duplexes, and that 13% will 
be multifamily.  The proposed MD zoning would potentially allow single family attached, duplexes, 
triplexes and a mobile home park.  Of the two annexations of residential property since the adoption 
of the Comprehensive Plan, one has been zoned Low Density and one zoned Medium Density.  The 
subdivision approved in the MD zoned territory is proposed for single family dwellings.  By assigning 
MD zoning to the territory to be annexed, the City will be providing for a slightly higher density and 
providing the potential for housing types other than single family detached. 

Annexation of the subject property and assigning MD zoning would increase the supply of MD zoned 
land without decreasing the supply of land in any other zone.  The annexation and assignment of 
zoning would not eliminate any available vacant land. 

6) The proposed zone amendment satisfies applicable provisions of Oregon Administrative Rules. 

Finding: The applicable Oregon Administrative Rules are OAR 660-012-0060 regarding 
transportation planning and OAR 660-008-0010 regarding the allocation of buildable lands.  OAR 
660-012-0060 requires certain measures if the proposed rezoning significantly affects a transportation 
facility.  The Stayton Transportation System Plan anticipated development of the subject property in 
the range of density proposed.  OAR 660-008-0010 requires that sufficient buildable land be 
designated on the comprehensive plan map to satisfy the needs by type and density range as 
determined in the housing needs projection.  The requested assigning of MD zoning does not change 
the designation on the comprehensive plan map and assists the city meet the identified need for 
housing in the comprehensive plan. 



 

 

Ordinance No. 1025  (Land Use File #13-06/18) Page 4 of 5 
Exhibit C, Findings of Fact 

Pursuant to SMC 17.12.210.4 the following criteria must be demonstrated as being satisfied by the 
application: 

a. Need exists in the community for the land proposed to be annexed. 

Finding: The 2013 Stayton Comprehensive Plan update included a Buildable Lands Inventory (BLI).  
The 2013 BLI provides the following information on projected growth and need for additional land in 
the community.  At that time, there were 114 lots comprising 106 acres of vacant land inside the City 
limits in the Low, Medium, and High Density Residential Zones.  The projected population for the 
City in 2030 (at a growth rate of 1.7%) was 11,359 people, requiring an additional 1,281 dwellings.  
To meet that need, the City Comprehensive Plan indicates the expected need of additional 320 acres 
of residential to be annexed into the City.  Since the time that analysis was conducted, the City has 
annexed 40 acres of residential land. 

Staff has calculated information on current buildable lands as follows.  There are currently 97 vacant 
lots totaling 97 acres within the City limits that are residentially zoned. 

Only two subdivisions have been platted in the past 5 years.  Six subdivisions have been platted in the 
past 10 years.  The total number of lots in each and the current status is shown in the table below. 

Recent Subdivisions in Stayton 

Subdivision Name Year Platted No of Lots  Existing Homes Vacant Lots 

Third Avenue Subdivision  2008 4 4 0 
Roth Estates 2009 12 12 0 
Phillips Estates, Phase 1 2009 20 16 4 
Phillips Estates, Phase 2 2014 26 5 21 
Wildlife Meadows 2017 44 33 13 

In addition, there is a possible third phase of the Phillips Estates subdivision, accounting for a 
potential of 10 lots, and the Lambert Place with 51 lots that have received preliminary plan approval 
from the Planning Commission but not yet been platted with Marion County. 

Though there are 97 parcels totaling 97 acres in the City and residentially zoned, staff estimates that 
there are only 57 parcels totaling 58 acres of vacant property within the City limits that is residentially 
zoned and reasonably available for development.  Lack of utility availability, ownership by a 
governmental entity, wetlands and floodplain issues, and violations of City approval constrain the 
ability of the remaining land to be available for development.  Within the LD zone there are 42 lots 
reasonably available for development.  In the MD zone there are 14 vacant lots.  There is only one 
vacant lot in the High Density Residential Zone.  With 4 acres, it has the potential capacity for 50 to 
60 dwelling units. 

The City’s growth rate from 2000 to 2017 has been at an average annual rate of about 1%, with a 
population change of 954 people.  The Marion County Coordinated Growth projection for 2030 is 
11,360, reflecting a 1.6% average annual growth rate for the next twenty years.  At a 1.6% growth rate 
from the most recent certified population estimate of the City, there would be the need for 541 new 
dwellings units over the next 10 years.  At an average of 5 units per acre for single family 
development, there would be the need for all of the existing vacant land in the City and 65 acres of 
land beyond the vacant land considered reasonably available for development to accommodate this 
number of homes. 



 

 

Ordinance No. 1025  (Land Use File #13-06/18) Page 5 of 5 
Exhibit C, Findings of Fact 

b. The site is or is capable of being serviced by adequate City public services, including such 
services as may be provided subject to the terms of a contract annexation agreement between the 
applicant and the City. 

Finding: There is a 20-inch water main in E Virginia St.  There is a 10-inch sewer main in E Virginia 
and N Tenth Ave with sewer manhole in N Tenth Ave.  There is a 15-inch stormwater main on the 
subject property. 

c. The proposed annexation is property contiguous to existing City jurisdictional limits. 

Finding: The unannexed portion of the property is an island of unannexed land surrounded by the 
City. 

d. The proposed annexation is compatible with the character of the surrounding area and complies 
with the urban growth program and the policies of the City of Stayton. 

Finding: The preliminary subdivision plan submitted with the annexation application shows a four-lot 
subdivision.  The preliminary plan shows lots ranging in size from 7,047 square feet to 9,116 square 
feet in area.  The properties to the south and west that are zoned MD range in size from about 7,200 
square feet to 16,400.  The properties to the east that are zoned LD range in size from 9,700 square 
feet to 14,360 square feet. 

There was testimony at the Planning Commission public hearing that the planned duplexes would not 
be compatible with the surrounding single family dwellings.  The Commission found that the property 
has been zoned MD since 1979 and duplexes are permitted uses in the MD zone.  The City Council 
also finds that the property has been zoned MD since 1979, that duplexes are permitted uses in the 
MD zone, and that policy of the City is that zoning boundaries follow parcel boundaries. 

There was testimony at the Planning Commission public hearing that the proposed street would not be 
compatible with the existing section of E Virginia St to the west of the subject property.  The 
Commission found the applicant proposes to construct the missing section of E Virginia St in 
accordance with the Public Works Design Standards for a local street and the portion of E Virginia St 
to the west, though not fully improved has a full right of way and a paved section adequate for two-
way traffic.  The City Council concurs with the Planning Commission’s finding. 

e. The annexation request complies or can be made to comply with all applicable provisions of state 
and local law. 

Finding: The criteria of ORS 222 apply to the adoption of an annexation ordinance which is a City 
Council action.  The property owners have consented to the annexation. 

f. If a proposed contract annexation, the terms and conditions, including the cost of City facility and 
service extensions to the annexed area shall be calculated by the Public Works Director. 

Finding: The proposed annexation is not a contract annexation. 

 



 
Resolution No. 982  Page 1 of 2  
August 20, 2018 

 
 

CITY OF STAYTON 
 

M E M O R A N D U M 
 
 
 
TO:   Mayor Henry A. Porter and the Stayton City Council 
 
Via:   Keith Campbell, City Manager 
 
FROM:  Andy Parks, Finance Consultant 
 
DATE:  August 20, 2018 
 
SUBJECT:  A resolution approving rate increases for water, wastewater, 

and stormwater utilities.  
  
ISSUE 

Consider increasing City’s water, wastewater and stormwater utility fees by 2.8%, consistent 
with the adopted fiscal year 2018-19 budget. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommends that Council approve Resolution No. 982, which provides for an inflation 
based adjustment to water, wastewater and stormwater utility fees of 2.8% effective October 
1, 2018. 
 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION 

Consistent with the City’s fiscal policies, annually the City Manager reviews the City’s fees and 
charges necessary to adequately fund the operation of the City’s utilities and other services. 
During the review the need for additional revenue for the City’s utilities was identified. At a 
minimum an inflationary adjustment to adequately fund cost increases for personnel, materials 
and services and capital requirements was recommended.  
 
Additionally, 5-year forecasts prepared for the City’s utility funds indicate similar annual 
inflationary rate adjustments will be necessary, and consistent with the fiscal policies, 
incremental rate adjustments are recommended rather than double digit rate adjustments 
when circumstances make rate adjustments critical for a particular need.  
 
As noted in the budget deliberations, the potential exists for greater percentage rate 
adjustments for stormwater and possibly for water and wastewater utilities pending the 
completion of the stormwater construction project and additional financial and operational 



 
Resolution No. 982  Page 2 of 2  
August 20, 2018 

analysis of capital requirements for water and wastewater operations. No other rate 
adjustments are anticipated during fiscal year 2018-19.  
 
FACTS AND FINDINGS 

Inflation during the March 2017-February 2018 period was 2.8% (CPI-U).  

The City’s labor costs associated with labor agreements, retirement benefits and health care 
costs increased by inflation of approximately 2.8%. 

The City’s cost for materials and services, such as electricity, professional services, dumping, 
supplies, have all been impacted by inflation. 

The City’s cost for construction for capital projects has increased by more than the CPI during 
the past year. 

FISCAL IMPACT 

The estimated additional revenue generated in FY 2018-19 due to the rate increase in each 
utility is: 
 
Water   $52,000 
Stormwater      8,000 
Wastewater             95,600 
 
The additional revenue will offset additional labor, material and service, and capital outlay costs 
attributable to inflation. 
 
OPTIONS  

1. Approve the attached resolution as presented. 
 

2. Amend the resolution as desired.  
 

3. Not approve the resolution, in which case, the City will need to adjust spending to adjust for 
reduced revenue. 

 
MOTION(S) 

For Option 1:  Offer a motion to approve Resolution No. 982, approving utility rate 
increases by the change in the consumer price index of 2.8% 

 
For Option 2:  Offer a motion to approve Resolution No. 982, as amended to include…..  
 
For Option 3:  No motion necessary. 



 
Resolution 982, approving changes to water, sanitary sewer and stormwater rates Page 1 of 4 

RESOLUTION NO. 982 
 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING CHANGES TO UTILITY CHARGES 
 
WHEREAS, Stayton Municipal Code (SMC) Titles 13.16.440; 13.32; and 13.24.1190 require 
rates be established to pay for the costs of operating the City’s water, stormwater and sanitary 
sewer utilities; 
 
WHEREAS, such rates are to be set in Resolution form by the Stayton City Council; 
 
WHEREAS, operating costs and capital facilities costs have increased due to inflation, since 
rates for each utility were last increased; 
 
WHEREAS, water rates have not been adjusted since July 2010; stormwater rates since April 
2017, and wastewater rates since July 2014; 
 
WHEREAS, the Budget Committee approved and the City Council adopted the fiscal year 2018-
19 budget including rate adjustments of the percentage change in the consumer price index over 
the past year of 2.8%; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the Stayton City Council deems it appropriate and timely that utility rates be 
adjusted to adequately provide resources to properly operate and maintain the City’s utility 
systems in accordance with the adopted master plans. 
 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that: 
 
Effective October 1, 2018, the City of Stayton’s utility rates are as follows: 

 
 
 



 
Resolution 982, approving changes to water, sanitary sewer and stormwater rates Page 2 of 4 

 
 
 



 
Resolution 982, approving changes to water, sanitary sewer and stormwater rates Page 3 of 4 

 



 
Resolution 982, approving changes to water, sanitary sewer and stormwater rates Page 4 of 4 

ASSIGNMENT OF USER CLASSES 
In accordance with SMC Chapter 13.32 each residential and non-residential 
developed property in the City shall be assigned to a category of use in proportion 
to the amount of impervious surface on the property. The Finance Director may 
review and modify the category of use assignment, either upon request of the 
customer or as warranted, as permitted in SMC Chapter 13.32. 
 

SECTION 4 APPEALS 
 
In accordance with SMC Chapter 13.32, any utility customer who disputes any 
interpretation given by the City as to the category of use assigned to such owner's 
property may request a review and appeal such interpretation. 

 
SECTION 5. REPEAL 
 
Resolution numbers 858, 907, and 908 are hereby repealed effective October 1, 2018. 
 
APPROVED BY THE STAYTON CITY COUNCIL THIS 20TH DAY OF AUGUST, 2018. 
 
 
Date:                                                      By:                                                                                

  Henry A. Porter, Mayor 
    
 
Date:                                                      Attest:                                                                           

   Keith D. Campbell, City Manager 
 
 



 
 

 
 

CITY OF STAYTON 
 

M E M O R A N D U M 
 
 
 

 TO: Mayor Henry Porter and the Stayton City Council 

 FROM: Dan Fleishman, Director of Planning and Development 

 DATE: August 20, 2018 

 SUBJECT: Neighborhood Improvement Grants 
  
 
ISSUE 

The issue before the City Council is providing feedback to staff in the development of the 
Neighborhood Improvement Grant program and application process.  

BACKGROUND INFORMATION 

The FY 2019 includes $5,000 in a new line item for Neighborhood Improvement Grants.  Staff 
has developed a concept of how the grant program will be structured and grants awarded.  
Staff is looking for feedback from the City Council on the conceptual framework, objectives, and 
assessment criteria. 

In summary, the proposal is that an application must be received from a group of at least three 
individuals who have come together to promote a project in their neighborhood.  One 
individual must be designated as the lead applicant for dealing with City staff, if the application 
is chose for funding.  Projects may fall into two categories:  neighborhood improvement 
projects or neighborhood livability initiatives. 

Improvement projects are ones that improve a public or shared space within a neighborhood or 
strengthen neighborhood identity.  Examples include landscape improvements or maintenance, 
signage, or benches.  Improvements projects may be on either public property such as planting 
street trees or improvements to a park, or private property such as coordinated improvements 
to front yards. 

Livability Initiatives are those that strengthen social connections, increase safety, address a 
neighborhood challenge or serve seniors or low income community members.  Example could 
include organizing a neighborhood emergency response network, providing outreach to social 
services on behalf of those in need, or creating a cooperative daycare organization. 

A draft of the copy to be produced in a brochure format is attached for review and critique by 
the Council. 

Staff envisions that the applications will be available by mid-September and must be returned 
between October 1 and November 30.  Staff would review the applications and provide an 



 
 

assessment to the City Council for final award of the grants.  A draft of the assessment criteria is 
attached. 

 



 

 

Neighborhood Improvement Grants 

Neighborhood Improvement Grants are part of a new program offered by the City of 
Stayton.  The goal of the program is to help neighbors work together to accomplish 
common goals that support the overall health, vitality, and livability of the place they call 
"home."  The City of Stayton offers these grants to groups of at least three neighbors 
that are willing to match funding through cash, in-kind donation, and volunteer hours. 

Grant funds may be spent on public improvements identified by the neighborhood or on 
private improvements.  Examples of public improvements are new and replacement 
play equipment or landscaping in parks, street tree plantings, or construction or 
replacement of sidewalks.  An example of private improvements would be coordinated 
improvement to front yard landscaping. 

This is a competitive grant program. Applications are reviewed by City staff, and 
selected grants are awarded by the City Council. 2018-19 is the first year of these 
grants.  A total of $5,000 is available to disperse.  Individual grant amounts are 
expected to typically be in the range of $1,500 to $3,000 each. 

Awardees will be required to complete a brief summary of the project outcomes and 
submit a minimum of two visual items to illustrate the project (photos, printed materials, 
etc). 

Application Review Criteria 

Who can apply? Applications must be submitted by a group of at least three neighbors 
may apply for funding that will benefit a clearly defined geographic area within the 
Stayton city limits. The group must authorize one individual to manage the grant 
contracts and funds.  

When is the funding available? Neighborhood Improvement Grant money comes from 
the FY 18-19 city budget. Money became available on July 1, 2018 and must be 
dispersed and spent before June 30, 2019. 

What are the program objectives? The Neighborhood Improvement Grant Program 
has two primary objectives. Grant applications may address any or all of the objectives 
and no single objective is prioritized higher than the other for receiving funding. The 
objectives are: 

 Neighborhood Improvement Projects - The funds may be used to improve a 
public or shared space within a neighborhood or to strengthen neighborhood 
identity. This may include items such as landscape improvements and 
maintenance, signage, natural features management, benches, painting, or 
certain exterior improvements.  Landscape improvements may be on public 
property – such as planting street trees or improvements to a park – or on private 
property – such as coordinated improvements to front yards. 



 

 

 Neighborhood Livability Initiatives - Funds may be used to provide education 
and outreach opportunities that strengthen the social connections in a 
neighborhood, increase safety, address a neighborhood challenge, or conflict or 
serve senior or low income community members. 

Applications will be reviewed based on the following: 

1. Degree to which neighborhood, and livability objectives are met 
2. The number of people benefiting or participating  
3. Demonstrated level of support from the neighborhood in terms of matching funds 

and/or in-kind contributions (e.g. volunteers or donations) 

How to Apply 

Application Period: October 1, 2018 – November 30, 2018 

Deadline: Applications must be received before 5pm on Friday, November 30, 2018. 
Late applications will not be accepted. 

1. Develop your idea based on the program objectives and attend the Grant 
Application Workshop (Note: the workshop is optional) on October 8, 2018 at 
6:30 pm in the Library meeting room. 

2. Complete the Application - Applications can be completed electronically or in 
hardcopy. Hardcopy applications are available at City Hall, or mailed upon 
request. 

Grant Application Packet - available now! 

Budget Worksheet (blank) 

Two reference documents are available to help with the application process - 
please review before submitting your application. 

Sample Completed Budget Worksheet (for reference purposes only) 

Grant Evaluation Criteria (for reference purposes only) 

3. Submit the completed application. 

Electronic submissions are preferred, but the form can also be printed and 
mailed or delivered to the addresses listed below. 

Email submittal: dfleishman@ci.stayton.or.us 

Mail or Delivery submittal:   Dan Fleishman 
                     Planning & Development Director 
                     362 N Third Ave 
                     Stayton, OR 97383 



Neighborhood Improvement Grant 
Assessment Criteria

Project Name Date Submitted

Group/Organization

THRESHOLD CRITERIA   Yes     No

Project occurs within City limits
Project can be completed within award year
Project is likely to be accomplished within the proposed planned budget
Project does not result in new or on-going costs to the city
Other funding is limited or unavailable
Matching fund and in-kind donation estimates appear reasonable

GRANT OBJECTIVES Yes     No

Strengthens communication and builds relationships between neighbors

Promotes inclusivity and diversity 
Fosters leadership development

Improves the overall appearance of the neighborhood
Provides a new or improves an existing asset in the neighborhood 
Strengthens neighborhood identity 
Increases health and/or safety 
Addresses a neighborhood conflict or challenge
Other (if applicable; please describe)

Comments

  Reviewed By Date

Creates or improves a shared space within the neighborhood



 
 

CITY OF STAYTON 
 

M E M O R A N D U M 
 
 
 
TO:   Mayor Henry Porter and the Stayton City Council 
 
FROM:  Cindy Chauran, Associate Accountant 
   Elizabeth Baldwin, Accounting Clerk 
  
DATE:   August 20, 2018 
 
SUBJECT:  Monthly Finance Department Report 
  
 
 July 2018 June 2018 

 
Number of Bills Mailed 2,397 2,381 

Number of Bills Emailed 361 356 

Number of Bills on Auto-Pay 611 604 

Delinquent Notices Sent Out 522 485 

Courtesy Delinquent Notices Sent to Landlords 144 149 

Notified of Impending Shut-Off & Penalty 101 172 

Customers Issued Payment Extensions 21 21 

Customers with Interrupted Services Non-Payment 19 39 

Services Still Disconnected 1 0 

 
Number of Checks Issued 108 180 

Total Amount of Checks $649,793.25 $548,107.44 
 









 
Public Works Monthly Operating Report  Page 1 
August 20, 2018 

 
 

CITY OF STAYTON 
 

M E M O R A N D U M 
 
 
 
TO:   Mayor Henry Porter and the Stayton City Council 
 
FROM:  Lisa Meyer, Administrative Assistant 
 
DATE:   August 20, 2018 
 
SUBJECT:  Public Works Monthly Operating Report for July 2018 
      
 
KEY ACTIVITIES STATUS 
 
•  WWTP Facility Effluent flows:  33.59 million gallons were treated during July.  The highest flow 

was 1.57 million gallons on the 31st and the lowest flow was .78 million gallons 
on the 25th.  The average flow was 1.08 million gallons.  Total rainfall for July 
was .05 inches.  Repairs made and new parts installed at Mill Creek Pump 
Station after power outage.  Hauled 145 dry tons of biosolids to the Energy from 
Waste Facility in Brooks, OR for disposal.  Generator installed at Wilco Pump 
Station. Dryer repairs and service completed.  Blower #3 back in service after 
repairs made. 
 

• WTP   Highest production day was 7,400,000 gallons on July 18th, 2018. 
 

• Water System Replaced 14 meters. Installed 7 new meters with radio readers.  Replaced a 
water service at 248 W Ida St. Performed maintenance on 8 hydrants. 
Maintenance included replacing gaskets, cleaning threads (for opening and 
closing), and some additional flushing.  Cleaned water filters beds 1 & 3. 

 
• Streets  Swept 240 curb miles and collected 140 cubic yards of material.  Slurry sealed 

streets in Quail Run Subdivision and Whitney, Hobson, Grier, and Weldon area. 
Mowed the city’s right of ways in town.      

 
 Parks  Volunteers: 
    Community Service:   Total # of Volunteers = 0, Total # of hours = 0 
     
• Building Permits   

            Permit Type Issued SDC’s Paid 
New Single Family Dwelling- 705 RABBIT RUN ST 
2158, 2235, 2271, 2295 DEER AVE 5 $76,600.00 

Residential Addition 1 $0.00 
Commercial Building Addition/Alteration/Other 1  
Residential Plumbing 1  
Residential Electrical 1  

TOTAL 9 $76,600.00 
One (1) Residential SDC = $11,626.00 + $755.00 for Mill Creek SDC + Storm 
Water SDC $2,049.00 or $2,939.00 



 

 

CITY OF STAYTON 

 

M E M O R A N D U M 

 

 TO: Mayor Henry Porter and the Stayton City Council 

 FROM: Dan Fleishman, Director of Planning and Development 

 DATE: August 20, 2018 

 SUBJECT: Report of Activities for July, 2018 

  

Assisted Revitalize Downtown Stayton with RARE interviews 

Attended River Fusion 22 planning meeting and No Santiam River Regional Tourism Marketing 
Committee meeting 

Working with Public Works Department staff, improvements to the Geographic Information 
System continued 

 



 
Monthly Library Report Page 1 of 1  
 

 bvdcw3q` 
 
 

CITY OF STAYTON 
 

M E M O R A N D U M 
 
TO:  Mayor Porter and the Stayton City Council 
 
FROM:  Janna Moser - Library Director 
 
DATE:  August 20, 2018 
 
SUBJECT:  July Library report 
  
 
Summer reading continued throughout July. Children decorated their own “Libraries Rock” t-shirts, 
visited with local firefighters, met Smokey Bear, and built their own wobblebots. The Creature 
Teachers brought a variety of wildlife to meet and learn about. Angel Ocasio entertained with his 
comedy, magic and music. The University of Oregon’s Museum of Natural and Cultural History 
brought rocks and fossils for children to dig into and explore. Brad Clark headlined the Summer 
Reading party with his music and storytelling.   
 
The teens made music boxes, rain sticks and guitar picks. They painted art inspired by sound waves 
and played life-size Angry Birds in the park behind the library. Adults and teens created sheet 
music art. A Polynesian dance and cultural group, Paradise of Samoa, performed a live show of 
traditional and contemporary music from the Pacific Islands.  
 
Thank you to our Summer Reading Program supporters: Stayton Friends of the Library, Stayton 
Family Memorial Pool, Stayton A&W, Bi-Mart Corp., Daily Buzz Coffee Company, Dairy Queen, 
Enchanted Forest, Oregon Coast Aquarium, Oregon Garden, Oregon State Fair, Stayton Papa 
Murphy’s, Pietro's Pizza, and the Portland Trailblazers.  
 
Upcoming events to mark on your calendars: 

● Teens: DIY Back to School – August 22 at 4:00pm 
● Adults: Book Discussion Group – August 29 at 5:30 
● Children: Art Club – September 10 at 3:30pm 
● Adults & Teens: DIY Book Binding – September 13 at 5:30pm 
● Teens: Build Your Own Rice Krispie Treats – September 19 at 4:00pm  
● Stayton History Presentation – September 27 at 7:00pm 

 
 



TOTAL CHECKOUTS 14,656 14,656 142,290

Self check out 4,530 4,530 46,557

Library2Go (ebooks +) 1,217 1,217 11,292

Non-resident cards             $35.00 $35.00 $1,946.50

Fines: overdue & lost books $2,452.23 $2,452.23 $13,179.57

Room fees                        $180.00 $180.00 $1,810.75

TOTAL $2,667.23 $16,936.82

In-Person, by phone and computer help 596 596 5,488

NEW PATRON CARDS 89 89 780

INTERNET USE 934 934 11,497

Children & adults at Children's Programs 998 998 7,400

Teens 60 60 278

Adults 36 36 1,025

Outreach 0 0 2,542

TOTAL 1,094 11,245

MEETING ROOM ATTENDANCE 63 63 1,559

PATRON VISITS 8,475 8,475 83,881

VOLUNTEER HOURS 234 234 2,453

Feb. MarchOct. Nov. Dec. Jan.

PROGRAM ATTENDANCE

2017-18 YTD

OTHER CIRCULATION SERVICES

INCOME RECEIVED

REFERENCE QUESTIONS

April May June 2018-19 YTD

2018-2019 Monthly Library  Statistics

July August Sept.


	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page



